



### **Commissioning infant feeding services: a toolkit for local authorities (Part 2)**

Evidence-based good practice prompts for planning comprehensive breastfeeding support interventions

### Foreword

Dame Sally Davies, CMO

Professor Viv Bennett

**Professor Kevin Fenton** 

### About Public Health England

Public Health England exists to protect and improve the nation's health and wellbeing, and reduce health inequalities. It does this through world-class science, knowledge and intelligence, advocacy, partnerships and the delivery of specialist public health services. PHE is an operationally autonomous executive agency of the Department of Health.

Public Health England Wellington House 133-155 Waterloo Road London SE1 8UG Tel: 020 7654 8000 www.gov.uk/phe Twitter: @PHE\_uk Facebook: www.facebook.com/PublicHealthEngland

Prepared by: Public Health England and Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative following consultation with key stakeholders For queries relating to this document, please contact: BFI@unicef.org.uk

### © Crown copyright 2016

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0. To view this licence, visit OGL or email psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

Published June 2016 PHE publications gateway number: 2016128

This document is available in other formats on request. Please call email BFI@unicef.org.uk



### Contents

About Public Health England	2
Foreword	4
Introduction	8
The 12 statements of principle in brief:	12
Commissioning principles for comprehensive breastfeeding support	13
Supporting women to understand the importance of infant feeding	
and relationship building in the antenatal period	16
Getting breastfeeding and relationships off to a good start: skin to skin	
and responsive feeding	17
Supporting breastfeeding and relationship building in the early days	18
Keeping breastfeeding going	19
Maximising breastmilk and introducing solid food	21
Breastfeeding when out and about and when returning to work	22
Maximising outcomes when babies are not breastfed	23
Reducing obesity and improving a child's life chances:	
supporting breastfeeding areas in all relevant policy areas	25
Return on investment	26
Tackling the promotion of breastmilk substitutes	27
Sustainability	28
Appendix 1: useful information	30
Appendix 2: Useful resources	31
References	36

### Foreword

### Professor Dame Sally C Davies Chief Medical Officer

Earlier this year new research was published in the Lancet confirming that breastfeeding saves lives, improves health and cuts healthcare costs in every country, including the UK. Lancet author Professor Cesar Victora uncompromisingly pointed out: "There is a widespread misconception that breastmilk can be replaced with artificial products without detrimental consequences and that the benefits of breastfeeding only relate to poor countries. Nothing could be further from the truth. The importance of tackling this global issue is greater now than ever before."

Yet despite the overwhelming evidence, the UK has some of the lowest breastfeeding rates in the world: only 34% of babies are receiving any breastmilk at six months compared with 71% in Norway. There are social, cultural and economic barriers which mean that many women are unable to breastfeed successfully despite genuine efforts to do so. This can lead to women experiencing feelings of pain, guilt and anger, and has brought us to a point where conversation about breastfeeding is highly emotive and fraught with accusations of pressure.

Improving breastfeeding rates is not the responsibility of individual women struggling alone in a culture that can be hostile towards breastfeeding – rather this is a public health challenge for which we all share responsibility. We **must** find a way to meet this challenge; failure to invest in breastfeeding leads to poorer health outcomes for children and women today and for generations to come.

We recognise great success in some areas of breastfeeding: peer support, workplace developments and implementation of the Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative, and of course the supportive work of health professionals in the NHS. There is of course more to do, and we need to support mothers, families, local authorities and health professionals to ensure that we are doing all we can to give children the best possible start in life.

After wide consultation, Public Health England and Unicef UK have developed this commissioning guidance to provide direction on how to make this a reality. Presented as a toolkit, the guidance is divided into three parts. Part 1, a set of infographics which highlight the key issues; Part 2, details of what success would look like for a commissioner working within their local authority to promote, protect and support breastfeeding; and Part 3, which sets out guidance on effective data collection, monitoring and reporting.

The publication of this commissioning guidance comes just days after the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child expressed specific concern about the extremely low breastfeeding rates in the UK and the alarming numbers of overweight and obese children. It called on UK governments to promote, protect and support breastfeeding in all policy areas where it has an impact on child health, including obesity. We know that we have made progress in many areas, but there is unquestionably more work to do.

Given the wide-reaching and long-lasting benefits of breastfeeding, we must meet this challenge head on. Supporting mothers to breastfeed ensures that every child has the best start in life. I urge you all to seize this opportunity, read this guidance and consider how best to ensure that more of our babies are breastfed in future.

Sally ( CV

Professor Dame Sally C Davies, CMO

### Professor Viv Bennett Chief Nurse, Public Health England

There is extensive evidence to show that breastfeeding helps to give babies the best possible start in life. Breastmilk provides optimal nutrition tailored to a baby's unique needs, vital immunity against infection in the early weeks, helps to promote early bonding and emotional attachment and reduces the risk of common illnesses in infancy.

Due to the overwhelming evidence that demonstrates the benefits of breastfeeding, it is a public health priority within Public Health England's Best Start in Life national priority and the focus of one of the six high impact areas in health visiting.

The benefits of breastfeeding are clear. As well as health benefits to mother and baby, increased breastfeeding rates contribute to reducing health inequalities through improved outcomes. Financially, high rates of breastfeeding not only result in savings to family budgets, but also to the public purse due to reduced service costs associated with dealing with health problems which occur more frequently when babies are not breast fed.

Despite these obvious benefits, rates in England remain low. Of particular concern is the number of women who start to breast feed and stop very quickly, often citing lack of support or social embarrassment as reasons why they stopped. We must therefore focus efforts to ensure that evidence based advice and personalised support is there when women need it. We must also work together to create communities where breastfeeding is welcomed so that women feel comfortable to breastfeed their babies in public. There are brilliant examples all over the country of how services in a range of settings, from hospitals to community peer-to-peer support, have helped women to continue to breastfeed for as long as they want to. We also know there is more to do to drive rates up and to reduce regional and demographic variation.

Health visitors play an important role in delivering Early Years High Impact Area 3: Breastfeeding. They are specially trained to support families to breastfeed and to get additional help by signposting them to other local services.

We know that local areas welcome support from Public Health England to be able to commission the services that are most effective and which will give most benefit to the families in their area. We have developed this commissioning guide in partnership with Unicef to support the commissioning of evidence-based interventions to improve breastfeeding rates across England. If services work together, with midwives and health visitors leading the way, I know that we can foster a culture which is positive about breastfeeding and where we can help every child to have the best possible start.

1 Berrett

Professor Viv Bennett

### Professer Kevin Fenton National Director, Health and Wellbeing

Breastfeeding provides substantial health benefits for mothers and babies which are experienced well beyond the period of breastfeeding itself. The UK government supports World Health Organization recommendations for babies to be exclusively breastfed for around the first six months. UK rates remain stubbornly low, with only 34% of babies receiving any breastmilk at all and only 1% of being exclusively breastfed at six months<sup>1</sup>.

PHE remains committed to driving up the rates of breastfeeding across England and I am delighted that we have developed this commissioning resource in partnership with Unicef to support local areas to commission the services responsive to the needs of their local populations.

The overall data belie the vast inequalities that exist across England, where huge regional variation continues, with 92.8% of mothers in Richmond initiating breastfeeding, compared with 46.3% of mothers in Knowsley<sup>2</sup>. Breastfeeding is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> www.thelancet.com/series/breastfeeding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/maternity-and-breastfeeding

closely related to factors such as socio economic status and ethnicity. Rates are higher amongst black and minority ethnic populations and more affluent localities. Young mothers, mothers from routine and manual professions, mothers who left education early and white mothers are less likely to breastfeed their babies<sup>3</sup>.

Mothers' reasons for not initiating breastfeeding are complex and varied, with a number of societal and cultural factors shaping their decision. We know that eight in ten women stop breastfeeding before they want to, saying they feel unsupported to do so or that they feel uncomfortable breastfeeding in public. Evidence shows that breastfeeding support at the right time and in the right place is effective in promoting successful breastfeeding. For some families that may be community based peer or group support whilst others may need more specialist hospital based support.

PHE's ambition is that breastfeeding is seen as normal and supported by everyone. This requires concerted action from across our communities: hospitals, workplaces, schools, parks and other public spaces and businesses to ensure that all women and feel supported to breastfeed wherever and whenever they need to. Working together to realise this ambition will help increase the number of babies who are breastfed, to give them the best possible start.

Kenn A. Horos

**Professor Kevin Fenton** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB08694/ifs-uk-2010-sum.pdf

### Introduction

The Chief Medical Officer's (CMO) reports, 'Our children deserve better' (2013)<sup>1</sup> and 'The Health of the 51%: Women' (2014)<sup>2</sup> highlight worrying trends in low breastfeeding rates in England. They recognise the impact and the importance of improving breastfeeding rates to promote child and maternal health and wellbeing.

The substantial health benefits of breastfeeding for women and babies are experienced well beyond the period of breastfeeding itself. In order to promote breastfeeding, interventions should be delivered in a combination of settings by involving health systems, home, family and the community concurrently. In addition, there needs to be robust data collection, monitoring of services and thorough action planning to ensure continued progress.<sup>3,4,5</sup>

Comprehensive, multifaceted infant feeding interventions, implemented at a local level as part of a strategic partnership approach can increase breastfeeding prevalence, support parents to build a close and loving relationship with their baby and reduce social and health inequality, thereby increasing a child's life chances.<sup>6,7</sup>

Having a comprehensive approach to infant feeding can:

### • cut costs to local public services

Commissioning services to increase and sustain breastfeeding would deliver significant cost savings to the NHS and to the local authority. Reducing the incidence of just five illnesses, protected by breastfeeding, would translate into cost savings for the NHS of at least £48 million and tens of thousands fewer hospital admissions and GP consultations.<sup>8,9</sup> The evidence suggests that failure to invest in the early years does not make economic sense; acting early ensures a return on investment and future cost savings. Two examples illustrate this:

1. Per annum childhood obesity costs for England are estimated to be  $\pounds$ 51 million and the long term cost of obesity into adulthood  $\pounds$ 588 to  $\pounds$ 686 million per annum, rising to  $\pounds$ 1.9 to  $\pounds$ 2 billion by 2030.

2. The annual cost to the public sector in England associated with children born preterm until age 18 is around £1.24 billion. Premature infants who do not receive breastmilk are much more likely to suffer infections, sepsis and necrotising enterocolitis (NEC). Treatment of NEC and sepsis, increased inpatient stay and the lifetime cost of disability in the community is significant and preventable.<sup>10</sup>

#### • increase children's life chances

Breastfeeding is associated with a higher IQ, translating into improved academic performance, as well as increased long-term earnings and productivity. Not breastfeeding increases a baby's risk of obesity, diabetes, respiratory infections, gastroenteritis, ear infections, tooth decay, allergic disease and sudden infant death syndrome.<sup>11,12,13,14,15</sup>

#### • reduce childhood obesity

Breastfeeding is associated with a reduction in the prevalence of overweight and obesity and the onset of diabetes in later life.<sup>16</sup> Longer breastfeeding duration has been associated with a 13% reduction in the likelihood of overweight and/or obesity prevalence and a 35% reduction in type-2 diabetes incidence.<sup>17</sup>

Longer breastfeeding may increase a mother's responsiveness to her infant's feeding cues, suggesting that the mother may show greater awareness of the infant's ability to communicate fullness after the initiation of other foods.<sup>18</sup> As the infant gets older a chronic mismatch of caregiver responsiveness to infant feeding cues has been linked to adverse feeding patterns such as feeding when a child is not hungry, which is linked in turn to overweight and obesity.

#### reduce health inequalities for disadvantaged families

Women from low incomes are the least likely to breastfeed, are more likely to have a premature or sick infant and have the worst health and wellbeing outcomes.

Breastfeeding or providing breastmilk for premature and sick babies improves their short- and long-term health and well-being outcomes, reducing both mortality and morbidity.<sup>19,20,21</sup>

### improve mother-infant relationships and wellbeing

Investing in breastfeeding and relationship building is now recognised as a positive, proactive mechanism to promote mother-infant attachment, improve the mental health and well-being for mother and child and reduce maternal neglect.<sup>22,23,24,25</sup>

#### • drive improvement across key measures of population health

Increasing breastfeeding prevalence and improving the mother and baby bond will impact on core indicators included in the public health domains identified in "Improving outcomes and supporting transparency: A public health outcomes framework for England."<sup>26</sup> Examples of indicators which would be positively affected include:

o obesity and type 2 diabetes

- o infant mortality and all cause preventable mortality
- o sudden infant death syndrome
- o breast and ovarian cancer
- o hospital admissions for infant infections; respiratory, gastric and ear
- o sickness absence for parents due to sick infants
- o postnatal depression
- o parent-infant relationships
- o school readiness

"Breastfeeding is a natural safety net against the worst effects of poverty...exclusive breastfeeding goes a long way towards cancelling out the health difference between being born into poverty or being born into affluence. It is almost as if breastfeeding takes the infant out of poverty for those few vital months in order to give the child a fairer start in life and compensate for the injustices of the world into which it was born."

James P. Grant, Executive Director of UNICEF, 1980 to 1995

#### Aim of this toolkit

Public Health England (PHE) supports local authorities in the delivery of locally appropriate interventions and services to improve the public's health and the life chances of all children, by providing data, interpretation and evidence. This pack supports a joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) process and the commissioning of services that protect, promote and support breastfeeding and the development of close and loving relationships. Local authorities, and their partners, are encouraged to provide a comprehensive universal service with access to specialist support when required.

### Format

The toolkit is based around 12 principles of good practice. Each statement of principle is drawn from the evidence base around what works best to support infant feeding. Each principle keeps the outcomes for the woman and her child at the centre of care.

Each statement of principle is followed by a vision of what service provision could look like locally if the principle is being met. There are a series of questions for each principle, that can be used as a check list to help you identify if there are any gaps in the service and where you are meeting the principle.

Case studies will follow on the Public Health England and Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative websites:

```
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england
www.unicef.org.uk/BabyFriendly
```

### Feedback

This is the first edition of PHE's infant feeding toolkit. It builds on the conversations and feedback from commissioners and other local stakeholders as a resource for reference, and to support investment in breastfeeding and very early child development. We would welcome your feedback as you use the documents.

"If breastfeeding did not already exist, someone who invented it today would deserve a dual Nobel Prize in medicine and economics. For while 'breast is best' for lifelong health, it is also excellent economics. Breastfeeding is a child's first inoculation against death, disease, and poverty, but also their most enduring investment in physical, cognitive, and social capacity."

Keith Hansen, 2016, Lancet Breastfeeding Series

### The 12 statements of principle in brief:

- 1. Local authority public health commissioners work closely with all relevant partners to commission high-quality, evidence-led services that support women to feed their infants and build a close and loving relationship with their babies.
- 2. All pregnant women are given the opportunity to learn about infant feeding and relationship building.
- 3. All women have the opportunity for skin to skin contact at birth and throughout the postnatal period. All women are supported to respond to their babies' needs for food and love and are offered ongoing, one to one, practical and skilled help to get breastfeeding off to a good start.
- 4. All breastfeeding women are supported to learn how to breastfeed responsively and how to hand express their breastmilk. Parents are supported to understand a newborn baby's needs for closeness and comfort.
- 5. Women are enabled to continue to breastfeed for as long as they wish, and when required specialist support is available. Women are welcomed to breastfeed in their communities and are supported to continue to breastfeed when out and about.
- 6. Women who breastfeed are provided with information and support to enable them to maximise the amount of breastmilk their baby receives. Parents are supported to introduce their baby to solid food in ways which support optimal health and development.
- 7. All women are equipped with the knowledge to be able to plan their return to work whilst breastfeeding, and businesses, shops and public premises within the local authority welcome breastfeeding women.
- 8. When babies are not breastfed, care is provided to ensure that parents are enabled to formula feed as safely as possible. Women's decisions are respected, and parents are supported to feed their baby responsively and to build close and loving relationships.
- 9. Links are made to promote, protect and support breastfeeding in all policy areas where breastfeeding has an impact.
- 10. The local authority monitors and reports investment on services to support, promote and protect breastfeeding.
- 11. All public services ensure that there is no promotion of breastmilk substitutes, bottles, teats or dummies in any of their facilities or by any of their staff, so that breastfeeding is protected and parents receive unbiased information to support their decisions.
- 12. Commissioning considers the environmental as well as social and economic cost benefits to the community.

## Commissioning principles for comprehensive breastfeeding support

### Statement of principle 1

Local authority public health commissioners work closely with all relevant partners to commission high-quality, evidence-led services that support women to breastfeed their infants and build a close and loving relationship with their babies irrespective of method of feeding, and protect women and families from the harmful marketing of breastmilk substitutes.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

Effective, integrated commissioning of services that achieve positive outcomes for women, their infants, their family and the community by:

- having well-functioning partnerships between local authority-led public health, health and wellbeing boards (HWB), NHS clinical commissioning groups (CCGs), NHS England local area teams (LATs), maternity and neonatal services, health visiting teams and children's services
- operating transparently according to assessed need
- bringing partner agencies and service providers together into costeffective delivery systems
- fully involving service users and local communities in every level of planning, monitoring and evaluation of services, including mother to mother breastfeeding support groups, breastfeeding peer supporters, voluntary organisations and children's centres<sup>27</sup>
- all staff in contact with mothers, babies and their families have the appropriate knowledge, skills and education to enable them to: support all parents to build a relationship with their baby, promote, protect and support breastfeeding, and as appropriate help parents when using other forms of infant feeding.

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 1.1 Embedding in local systems.
- 1.1.1 Does the maternity strategy, children's services strategy, the local authority commissioning strategy, CCG commissioning strategy, and the joint health and wellbeing strategy (JHWS) demonstrate an explicit link between the evidence of need for breastfeeding support and service planning?
- 1.1.2 Do we have suitable mechanisms in place within the local public health structure to ensure breastfeeding prevalence is reported to the Health and Wellbeing board?
- 1.1.3 Do those responsible for commissioning breastfeeding services have established partnership arrangements in place with the CCGs, local clinical

networks (Regional Infant Feeding Network and Neonatal Network), and NHS England LATs? Is there a formal strategic partnership in place for infant feeding support involving key stakeholders and agencies (maternity and neonatal, public health, children's services and voluntary organisations)?<sup>28,29,30,31</sup>

- 1.1.4 Are these partnerships set up with a fully integrated and comprehensive strategy that aims to promote, protect and support breastfeeding, reduce the harm and inequalities caused by formula feeding and that advocates for increasing breastfeeding prevalence?
- 1.1.5 Have the leadership and strategic partners undertaken a self-assessment to enable you to:
  - evaluate your local action on breastfeeding protection, promotion and support?
  - ensure that local activity follows the latest evidence-based practice?
  - identify priority areas for development?
- 1.1.6 Have strategic partner organisations acknowledged their responsibilities under the Healthy Child Programme<sup>32</sup> and Public Health Outcomes Framework<sup>33</sup> (PHOF) to promote and monitor breastfeeding initiation and prevalence?
- 1.1.7 Is there a plan in place to ensure the workforce has the knowledge, skills and education to implement the local infant feeding strategy? This includes the commissioners, early years leads, nursery nurses, midwives, health visitors, children centre staff etc.
- 1.1.8 Is information readily available to the general public, health care professionals and partner agencies, including the voluntary sector, that promotes understanding of breastfeeding services, how they can be accessed and how women and families can be referred to them for support?
- 1.2 Needs assessment (\*see also Part 3: Monitoring Data):
- 1.2.1 Does the local JSNA include a section on infant feeding that reflects need across the whole spectrum for promoting, protecting and supporting breastfeeding to reduce inequalities of health and wellbeing outcomes, and acknowledge the impact of this across the PHOF and NHSOF through partnership, collaboration and support?
- 1.2.2 Is there a shared understanding of the local level of demand and need, based on a range of local and national data across a range of public services?
- 1.2.3 Is local data on breastfeeding provided within maternity and neonatal services and primary health care settings collected and analysed to inform needs assessment?
- 1.2.4 Does analysis of re-admissions of both breastfed and formula fed infants to hospital inform the targeting of interventions locally?
- 1.2.5 Do commissioners analyse and monitor local breastfeeding data so that service provision can be aligned with need?
- 1.2.6 Does the needs assessment build on the social capital of the local population to develop existing community services such as peer to peer

support and breastfeeding drop-ins to develop local assets and build a sustainable breastfeeding community?

- 1.2.7 Are the following fully identified:
- a. Leadership with sufficient knowledge and skills to take this agenda forward.
- b. An infant feeding strategy that describes how best to meet local need, with action planning that:
  - has identified gaps in breastfeeding support services across all partner agencies and plans to overcome this
  - has identified existing strengths and ways in which services can be commissioned to maximise positive outcomes
  - has identified finances and resources available
  - ensures the equity of access to breastfeeding services for key populations with lower prevalence of breastfeeding such as white, low income women, teenage pregnant women and those who have not breastfed before
  - identifies the impact of how higher breastfeeding prevalence locally will impact infant and maternal morbidity and mortality, hospital admissions, length of stay and social care activity?
- c. A plan in place to ensure the workforce has the knowledge, skills and education to implement the local infant feeding strategy? This includes the commissioners; early years leads; nursery nurses; midwives; health visitors; children centre staff etc.
- 1.3 Effective commissioning:
- 1.3.1 Do interventions commissioned follow evidence-based guidelines such as those outlined in NICE guidance, the Healthy Child Programme and the Chief Medical Officer's Report?
- 1.3.2 Do contracts for commissioned services specify key performance indicators and are these regularly monitored and reviewed?
- 1.3.3 Are interventions and services geographically and socio-culturally appropriate to those for whom they are designed?
- 1.3.4 Have commissioning functions undergone a review of their fitness for purpose?
- 1.3.5 Is there sufficient breastfeeding commissioning capacity and expertise?
- 1.3.6 Does formal evaluation of the range of breastfeeding support services feature within the commissioning strategy?

# Supporting women to understand the importance of infant feeding and relationship building in the antenatal period

### Statement of principle 2

All pregnant women are given the opportunity to learn about infant feeding and relationship building.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

- pregnant women recognise the importance of early relationships and breastfeeding on the health and well-being of their baby<sup>34</sup>
- pregnant women report having a meaningful conversation with a midwife in the antenatal period about infant feeding and getting to know their baby<sup>35,36</sup>
- all women are offered opportunities for participant-led antenatal classes, including breastfeeding workshops, and these will be interactive, tailored to the needs of individuals and learner-centred<sup>37</sup>
- all pregnant women are offered a health visitor visit in the home at 28 weeks and this will include discussions around attachment and infant feeding<sup>38</sup>
- services are promoted locally to raise awareness of the support available, including peer to peer support<sup>39</sup>
- there are clear and efficient referral pathways embedded in midwifery and health visiting services to support women with special needs in order to get breastfeeding off to a good start<sup>40</sup>
- all required monitoring data is reported to the NHS Digital (formally Health and Social Care Information Centre) through the quarterly reporting system

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 2.1 Is the service design and delivery informed by the latest evidence base summarised in the NICE guidance, the Healthy Child Programme, Health Visiting Service specification and Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative?
- 2.2 Have all midwives and health visitors been trained to a recognised, externally evaluated programme (such as the Baby Friendly Initiative) that supports women to breastfeed effectively and build a relationship with their baby?
- 2.3 Can services provide support for women who have special needs such as obesity or planned caesarean section?

- 2.4 Do women know how to access local support services such as antenatal classes, peer support groups, breastfeeding drop-ins etc.?
- 2.5 Do women who are least likely to breastfeed receive the one to one, proactive support they need to understand the importance of infant feeding choices eg teenage women, women from lower socio economic groups, first time mothers?
- 2.6 Are services required to demonstrate how they meet women's needs in the local area, to the public and to health professionals, including appropriate policies and referral pathways?
- 2.7 Are services audited to assess the number of women reached, how effective the intervention is and if the service is evaluated and an action plan in place?

"Information should be given in a form that is easy to understand and accessible to pregnant women with additional needs, such as physical, sensory or learning disabilities, and to pregnant women who do not speak or read English."

NICE, CG62, 2016

### Getting breastfeeding and relationships off to a good start: skin to skin and responsive feeding

### **Statement of principle 3**

All women have the opportunity for unrestricted skin to skin contact at birth and throughout the first feed, irrespective of feeding type. Where women and babies are separated, skin to skin is offered as soon as possible. All women are supported to respond to their babies' needs for food and love and are offered ongoing, one to one, practical and skilled help to get breastfeeding off to a good start. Skin contact is encouraged throughout the postnatal period.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

- women report that they were able to have prolonged skin to skin contact after birth in an unhurried environment for as long as they wished and that support to initiate breastfeeding was provided
- more women are choosing to initiate breastfeeding at birth

- parents know how to start building a close and loving relationship with their baby and understand how on-going skin to skin and breastfeeding can support this<sup>41</sup>
- parents who are separated from their baby report that they were offered skin to skin contact when appropriate and that support was given to help the mother initiate her lactation as soon as possible after birth

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 3.1 Does the local maternity service audit immediate post birth practices (eg using the Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative maternity audit tool or similar) and create robust action plans to address any weaknesses in their service?
- 3.2 Is breastfeeding initiation data collected, collated and reported to the local authority?
- 3.3 Is data collected for use of breastmilk for sick and premature infants?
- 3.4 Do sick or premature infants have access to donor breastmilk if needed?<sup>42</sup>
- 3.5 Has the local maternity and neonatal acute service achieved Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative accreditation and how is this being sustained? If not, how far are they on the process to full accreditation?
- 3.6 Is there a clear pathway of care across services that is utilised and ensures that all women have equal access to infant feeding support?
- 3.7 Does the local authority monitor the Care Quality Commission triannual report on local maternity services to ensure that local women's needs are being met within the acute services? How do the outcomes feed into local action plans?

## Supporting breastfeeding and relationship building in the early days

### **Statement of principle 4**

All breastfeeding women are supported to learn how to position and attach their baby for breastfeeding and how to hand express their breastmilk. They understand how to feed their baby responsively (including as a means of comforting and calming babies) and how to recognise that breastfeeding is going well. Parents are supported to understand a newborn baby's needs for closeness and comfort.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

 women are offered proactive, ongoing, practical, face to face breastfeeding support within 48 hours of giving birth. When they are transferred home from hospital after birth they know how to access further support if required<sup>43</sup> eg through the Midwife or Health Visitor, National Breastfeeding Helpline44, local breastfeeding support services, peer to peer support workers etc

- women who are separated from their infant know how to express, store and transport their breastmilk
- in the early days the midwife and health visitor carry out regular breastfeeding assessments with the mother to help her to recognise when feeding is going well and when extra support is required

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 4.1 Does the local maternity service audit support given with breastfeeding in hospital and via their community midwives (eg using the Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative maternity audit tool or similar) and create robust action plans to address any weaknesses in their service?
- 4.2 Does the local health visiting service audit support given at the new birth visit (eg using the Baby Friendly Initiative health visiting audit tool or similar) and create robust action plans to address any weaknesses in their service?
- 4.3 Do women know how to access support when challenges occur? Do you have evidence that interventions are being delivered and are meeting need?
- 4.4 Are women who are separated from their baby supported to express their breastmilk effectively and to start breastfeeding when this is possible? Is local data collected on breastfeeding prevalence at five to ten days? How does this inform breastfeeding 'drop off' rates? Is this data used to analyse how services can be developed to support women to continue to breastfeed, particularly those least likely to succeed?
- 4.5 Is infant feeding data collected by the health visitor at the new-birth visit? How is this information utilised to inform development of the service and to help women to maximise the amount of breastmilk the baby receives, keeping breastfeeding going?

### Keeping breastfeeding going

### **Statement of principle 5**

Women are enabled to continue to breastfeed for as long as they wish. Social support and help with difficulties are available according to need. Women requiring more specialist support have access to this. Women feel welcome to breastfeed in their communities and are supported to continue to breastfeed when out and about.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

- women have access to social support in their local communities and there is access to effective help when challenges occur
- women are supported to breastfeed out and about in their community

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 5.1 What face to face services are available within the community to help women to continue breastfeeding? eg from the health visiting service, via peer to peer support, breastfeeding drop-ins, breastfeeding cafes etc.
- 5.2 How are breastfeeding support services audited in the local community? eg is attendance and satisfaction with the service audited by mothers, and if it is not working is it decommissioned and a more appropriate service developed to meet local need?
- 5.3 Are services available which provide social support and help with common breastfeeding challenges?
- 5.4 Is there a specialist service available to support women with more complex breastfeeding problems?
- 5.5 Has the local health visiting and children's centre service achieved Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative accreditation and how is this being sustained? If not, how far are they on the process to full accreditation?
- 5.6 Is local data collected on breastfeeding prevalence at six to eight weeks and reported nationally in line with the requirements of the LGA's Children's Improvement Board and PHOF? (\*see also Part 3: Monitoring Data)
- 5.7 Is data used to inform how services can be developed to support women to keep breastfeeding going and reduce breastfeeding 'drop off' rates?
- 5.8 How is data collated, reported and evaluated from the specialist service eg has the service helped to reduce the number of infants readmitted to hospital?

"Children who are breastfed for longer periods have lower morbidity and mortality, fewer dental malocclusions, and higher intelligence than those that are breastfed for shorter periods, or not breastfed. This inequality persists until later in life. Growing evidence also suggests that breastfeeding might protect against overweight and diabetes in later life."

Victora et al, Lancet Breastfeeding series, 2016

## Maximising breastmilk and introducing solid food

The nutritional needs of a healthy term infant can be met by exclusive breastfeeding for the first six months<sup>45</sup> and thereafter with other foods for around two years or as long as the mother and baby choose. Rather like their readiness to walk and talk, infants become physiologically ready to take other foods and this occurs at around six months. Optimal breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices save lives, reduce obesity, and increase life chances for all children. Helping all parents, breast, formula or mixed feeding, respond to their baby's needs for other foods, will enable them to feel confident as they begin to introduce a variety of foods into their baby's diet.

### **Statement of principle 6**

Women who breastfeed are provided with information and support to enable them to maximise the amount of breastmilk their baby receives. Parents are supported to introduce their baby to solid food in ways which support optimal health and development.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

- women continue to breastfeed for as long as they wish and introduce other foods in a timely manner alongside breastfeeding in order to optimise the babies' health and wellbeing
- parents are responsive to their baby's changing developmental abilities and needs and have access to information and support about introducing other foods into the baby's diet<sup>46</sup>

### What questions should you ask to check that you arefollowing the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 6.1 Do front line staff members collect data about when solid foods are introduced and on breastfeeding prevalence at six months? Is this data used to analyse how services can be developed to support women to keep breastfeeding going?
- 6.2 Are there classes (or other equivalent education) that provide information and practical support available for parents to learn about introducing solid food? Where are they held? Is there good attendance? Do women from all social groups attend? How are these services monitored and evaluated? Are these services free from commercial interest?
- 6.3 How are parents who do not access information supported as to how/when to introduce other foods?

- 6.4 How are, for example, children's centres, nursery staff or troubled family teams trained to support women to breastfeed, introduce solids and continue to breastfeed alongside other foods?
- 6.5 Has consultation with appropriate stakeholders, including service user groups, influenced the design of the services?

## Breastfeeding when out and about and when returning to work

The Equality Act 2010 has specifically clarified that it is unlawful for a business to discriminate against a woman because she is breastfeeding a child."

The Equality Act, 2010<sup>47</sup>

### **Statement of principle 7**

All women are equipped with the knowledge to be able to plan their return to work whilst breastfeeding<sup>48</sup>, and businesses, shops and public premises within the local authority welcome breastfeeding women.<sup>49</sup>

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

Before they go on maternity leave, pregnant women have the opportunity to discuss breastfeeding and caring for their baby with their employer on return to work. Women will know:

- to give their employer written notification that she is breastfeeding before she returns to work
- that workplace regulations require that breastfeeding employees are provided with suitable facilities to rest
- the Health and Safety Executive (HSE)<sup>50</sup> recommends that it is good practice for employers to provide a private, healthy and safe environment for breastfeeding mothers to express and store milk
- which local premises welcome breastfeeding mothers

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 7.1 Is there support for breastfeeding established in local workplace wellbeing initiatives?
- 7.2 Are there established channels of communication between local breastfeeding support services and local employers?
- 7.3 Do women in the local authority report that the social barriers to breastfeeding in their local community are improving eg they feel welcome

to breastfeed out and about, in public places, parks, cafes, sports centres, cinemas etc? How is this monitored and evaluated? When barriers are identified what actions are put in place to overcome them?

- 7.4 Do women know how to access support and information on returning to work whilst breastfeeding? How is this made publically available to all women?
- 7.5 Are employees routinely provided with information on returning to work whilst breastfeeding? Are staff allowed time off to breastfeed?
- 7.6 Are public sector breastfeeding policies an exemplar to other local employers? Are your breastfeeding policies regularly reviewed and updated?
- 7.7 Is there a mechanism within the local authority where women could seek advice and support about breastfeeding in the community and/or returning to work eg via the Citizens Advice Bureau?
- 7.8 How are authorised local nursery and child care staff trained and monitored to support women to breastfeed and/or the baby to receive expressed breastmilk or a combination of breast and formula milk?
- 7.9 Do local councils, local shops, public spaces, schools, parks and play areas etc. welcome breastfeeding women?

"Women are not getting the support they need to breastfeed. Success in breastfeeding is the collective responsibility of society, not the sole responsibility of a woman."

Lancet Breastfeeding series, 2016

## Maximising outcomes when babies are not breastfed

Many women today grow up in a bottle feeding environment, where families have been formula feeding for three or four generations. Women growing up in an environment that is hostile to breastfeeding are unlikely to choose to breastfeed without support. 31% of women are giving their infants formula at birth, 52% at one week and this rises to 73% at 6 weeks.<sup>51</sup>

### **Statement of Principle 8**

When babies are not breastfed, care is provided to ensure that parents are enabled to formula feed as safely as possible. Women's decisions are respected, even when this is contrary to the views of the healthcare professional.<sup>52</sup> Parents are supported to feed their baby responsively and to build close and loving relationships.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

- parents who formula feed report feeling supported in their decision and understand how to formula feed safely<sup>53</sup>
- parents understand that it is possible to over-feed a formula fed baby and know how to respond to their baby's feeding cues, recognising when their baby has had enough milk
- parents know not to add alternative foods into the bottle, including drinks containing sugar that can cause dental caries<sup>54</sup>
- parents know how to start building a close and loving relationship with their baby and understand how on-going skin to skin contact and limiting the number of care givers feeding the baby can encourage this<sup>55</sup>

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 8.1 Does the local maternity and health visiting service audit support given to bottle feeding parents (eg using the Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative audit tools or similar) and create robust action plans to address any weaknesses in their service?
- 8.2 Is local data collected about the number of infants exclusively formula fed and those mixed feeding, formula and breastmilk?
- 8.3 Have the local maternity, neonatal, health visiting and children's centre services achieved Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative accreditation and how is this being sustained? If not, how far are they on the process to full accreditation?
- 8.4 Is accurate and effective information which is free from commercial interest (eg information from the Department of Health, Unicef UK or First Steps Nutrition) provided for all parents on how to feed their baby, how to prepare feeds and what milks to use? Do front line staff, in all settings, receive training on formula feeding eg how to make up feeds, how not to over feed baby and how to formula feed responsively?
- 8.5 Does the local authority have a reporting mechanism in place to protect the safety of the baby should a contraindication to a formula feed arise?

"There is a widespread misconception that breastmilk can be replaced with artificial products without detrimental consequences and that the benefits of breastfeeding only relate to poor countries. Nothing could be further from the truth"

Professor César Victora, Lancet author, 2016

### Reducing obesity and improving a child's life chances: supporting breastfeeding areas in all relevant policy areas

### **Statement of principle 9**

Links are made to promote, protect and support breastfeeding in all policy areas where breastfeeding has an impact.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

Evidence-based infant feeding practices are promoted and supported in local authority Children and Young People (CYP) plans: policy, strategy and guidance in all areas where infant feeding has an impact, including:

- an obesity strategy <sup>56</sup>
- diabetes care pathways 57
- cancer reduction<sup>58</sup>
- teenage pregnancy<sup>59</sup>
- maternity and neonatal service specification<sup>60</sup>
- National Health Visiting Core Service Specification<sup>61</sup>
- neonatal mortality and morbidity reduction<sup>62</sup>
- maternal and child perinatal mental health wellbeing plans<sup>63</sup>
- emotional attachment development plans<sup>64</sup>
- parenting and relationship building strategy<sup>26</sup>
- oral health<sup>65</sup>
- school readiness plans<sup>66</sup> health and social inequality inclusion<sup>67</sup>
- workplace wellbeing plans<sup>68</sup>
- environmental sustainability community organisation<sup>69</sup>

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 9.1 Do interventions commissioned for breastfeeding support take an evidencebased approach such as that outlined in NICE guidance?
- 9.2 Do those responsible for 'other' policy areas know how to contact the CYP team for information and support on how to link their own area to the importance of infant feeding?
- 9.3 Is there a mechanism for mapping infant feeding in each area and identifying any gaps?
- 9.4 Is there an action plan in place, with enough authority, an effective timeline and reporting structure, to ensure that infant feeding is incorporated across the CYP framework?

### Return on investment

Recent research demonstrates that moderate increases in breastfeeding, by preventing just five illnesses resulting from formula feeding, would translate into cost savings for the NHS of £48 million and tens of thousands fewer hospital admissions and GP consultations per year.<sup>70,71,72</sup>

### Statement of principle 10

The local authority monitors investment on services to support, promote and protect breastfeeding. This information is reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board/Local Government Association's (LGA) Children's Improvement Board (or equivalent) to inform future planning and investment, and also to decide where services may need to be de-commissioned, and new evidence-based interventions introduced.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

Investment in services, training and capacity building having a positive and measurable impact on outcomes over specified periods, including:

- ongoing evaluation that breastfeeding support services remain rooted in the direct experiences of local women and their families and continue to meet local need
- successful breastfeeding interventions are delivered to vulnerable populations and those identified as at risk in the JSNA
- data reporting of breastfeeding prevalence rates, hospital admissions and childhood illness related to infant feeding is monitored and reported to NHS Digital (formally Health and Social Care Information Centre) through the quarterly reporting system. \*(\*see also Part 3: Monitoring Data).

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 10.1 Is investment commensurate with the level of identified need and sufficient for the range of services required to protect, promote and support breastfeeding?
- 10.2 Can commissioners identify the total level of local investment by all partners who contribute to delivery?
- 10.3 Have the partners identified the potential return on investment for funding breastfeeding interventions and does this include the economics to be achieved by the commissioning local activity?
- 10.4 Are reliable cost-effective data tools used to inform commissioning decisions and ensure that investment in breastfeeding is based on an understanding of expenditure, performance and effectiveness?

"If breastfeeding rates increased so that 45% of women exclusively breastfed for four months, and 75% of babies were breastfed at discharge from hospital, it has been estimated that more than £17 million in treatment costs could be saved in the UK each year."

Advice to LAs in delivery of mandated HV reviews, DH, 2015.

## Tackling the promotion of breastmilk substitutes

The breastmilk substitute industry is large and growing, and its marketing undermines breastfeeding and parents' ability to make informed decisions regarding how they feed and care for their baby, free from the influence of commercial interests.<sup>73,74</sup>

### **Statement of principle 11**

All health, social care and education settings ensure that there is no promotion of breastmilk substitutes, bottles, teats or dummies in any of their facilities or by any of their staff, so that breastfeeding is protected and parents receive unbiased information to support their decisions.

"The UK has the lowest breastfeeding rates in the world and the 11<sup>th</sup> largest formula industry in the world, predicted to be worth \$907million by 2019."

Lancet Breastfeeding series, 2016

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

- breastmilk substitutes, bottles and teats are not promoted through any form
  of advertising in public settings, or by the staff who work there. This means
  that there is no direct or indirect promotion such as the use of resources
  produced by formula milk companies or acceptance of support from formula
  companies to attend training or events
- all staff aim to work within the International Code of Marketing of Breastmilk substitutes (the Code) and subsequent WHO resolutions.<sup>75,76</sup>

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

- 11.1 Is there a written statement signed by the head of each service that confirms that the facility is committed to working within the Code and resolutions?
- 11.2 Are there systems in place to monitor that there is no advertising of breastmilk substitutes, bottles, teats or dummies anywhere in services or by any of the staff?
- 11.3 Do staff have access to unbiased, evidence-based, information about breastmilk substitutes to share with parents who are formula feeding, such as information published by the Department of Health, Unicef UK and the First Steps NutritionTrust?<sup>77</sup>

### Sustainability

Breastfeeding is eco-friendly and therefore sustainable. It requires no packaging, shipping or disposal, no landfill from plastic, paper and metals or production costs used in formulas.<sup>78</sup>

### Statement of principle 12

Commissioning considers the environmental as well as social and economic costs benefits to the community.

### What will you see locally if you are meeting this principle?

- increasing breastfeeding prevalence in the local authority helps to build a more environmentally sustainable community
- the local authority environmental department will work with the Public Health team to incorporate breastfeeding promotion into their strategy

### What questions should you ask to check that you are following the evidence and best practice that supports this principle?

12.1 What links have been made with the environmental team, and how are they working to develop an action plan on how best they can be part of the community that collectively supports women to breastfeed?

### Appendix 1: useful information

- local authority services are required to work closely with the NHS to develop and integrate their five year Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 2016/17-2020/21, that reflects locally agreed health and wellbeing strategies, specifically in relation to prevention<sup>79</sup>
- commissioning children's public health services is now the responsibility of the local authority: six where health visitors have the most impact on the health and wellbeing of children aged nought to five have been identified. This includes breastfeeding initiation and prevalence and forms part of the Guidance to support the commissioning of the Health Child Programme.<sup>80</sup> The health visitor health review at six to eight weeks is currently mandated<sup>81,82</sup> which includes breastfeeding support and data collection<sup>83</sup>
- the Local Government Association report: Our ambition for children and young people, 2014<sup>84, 85</sup>, identifies breastfeeding as a key area to improving a child's start in life, as part of the high level ambition for all children to be healthy, happy and free from poverty
- effective local commissioning which creates a better place can result in new ways of delivering outcomes; stronger partnerships between the voluntary and community sector; improved and more coherent services; joint assessment of local need; economies of scale and better engagement with citizens, who share assets, take more control over their lives and increase their social capital by supporting each other<sup>86</sup>
- the Public Service Transformation Network (2015)<sup>87</sup> identifies five tips for working with places to co-design service reforms:
- 1. **Trust** if you build a good trust relationship wonderful things can take place
- 2. Flexibility learn to be comfortable with some degree of ambiguity and uncertainty
- 3. Honesty be honest about what you can and cannot deliver
- 4. Clarity be clear about what your collaboration needs to achieve
- 5. **Sustainability** use your networks to build supportive alliances and identify champions

### Appendix 2: Useful resources

NB: This list is by no means exhaustive – please add your own contacts to the list

### Association of Breastfeeding Mothers (ABM)

A voluntary organisation of mothers experienced in breastfeeding counselling. www.abm.me.uk

### **Baby Milk Action**

Information on the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes. www.babymilkaction.org

### **Best Beginnings**

A charity that developed the DVDs from 'From Bump to Breastfeeding' and 'Small Wonders' and Baby Buddy App.

www.bestbeginnings.org.uk

#### **Breastfeeding Network (BfN)**

Aims to be an independent source of support and information for breastfeeding women and those involved in their care. www.breastfeedingnetwork.org.uk

#### **First Steps Nutrition**

Provides independent information on Infant milks in the UK and early years nutrition. www.firststepsnutrition.org

#### **Healthy Start**

A UK-wide government scheme to improve the health of low-income pregnant women and families on benefits and tax credits. www.healthystart.nhs.uk

### ISIS Infant Sleep Information Source

Information for parents and carers supported by Durham University, UNICEF, LLL and the NCT. www.isisonline.org.uk

### Lactation Consultants of Great Britain (LCGB)

Professional organisation for qualified lactation consultants that specialises in promoting, protecting and supporting lactation issues. www.lcgb.org

#### **Drugs in Breastmilk**

The drugline is run by a gualified pharmacist who is also a BfN Registered Breastfeeding Supporter. The service is open to mothers and professionals.

www.breastfeedingnetwork.org.uk/det ailed-information/drugs-in-breastmilk

#### La Leche League GB

The LLL aims to help mothers to breastfeed through mother-tomother support, and education, and to promote a better understanding of breastfeeding. www.laleche.org.uk

#### **National Breastfeeding Helpline**

Provides confidential, non-judgmental, independent, evidence-based information and support to women and families on breastfeeding through telephone and web chat. 0300 100 0212

www.nationalbreastfeedinghelpline.org.uk

### NCT (National Childbirth Trust)

The NCT is the largest charity providing information for parents in the UK: antenatal classes, postnatal, breastfeeding and parenting support. www.nct.org.uk

#### Maternity Action

Specialist resources on the law relating to breastfeeding on return to work and breastfeeding when out and about. http://www.maternityaction.org.uk/

### **Unicef UK Baby Friendly**

### Initiative

The UK Baby Friendly Initiative is based on a global accreditation programme of UNICEF and the World Health Organization. It is designed to support breastfeeding and parent-infant relationships by working with public services to improve standards of care. www.unicef.org.uk/babyfriendly

### **Professional groups**

#### **Community Practitioners and Health Visitors Association CPHVA/Unite the Union**

www.unitetheunion.org/how-wehelp/list-ofsectors/healthsector/healthsectoryour profession/cphva

Royal College of Midwives RCM www.rcm.org.uk

**Royal College of GPs** www.rcgp.org.uk

#### Institute of Health Visiting iHV http://ihv.org.uk/

#### The National Infant Feeding Network (NIFN)

www.unicef.org.uk/BabyFriendly/Heal th-Professionals/Infant-feedingnetworks

#### Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health RCPCH www.rcpch.ac.uk

### **Other Information**

The Birth Charter for Women in Prisons in England and Wales www.birthcompanions.org.uk/Birth-Charter

Evaluation of Breastfeeding Network Evaluation of the peer support schemes in England and Scotland www.breastfeedingnetwork.org.uk/wp -content/uploads/2016/06/BfN-Blake-Stevenson-Evaluation-report-V5-1Apr.pdf

The evidence and rationale for the Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative standards www.unicef.org.uk/BabyFriendly/Res ources/Guidance-for-Health-Professionals/Writing-policies-andguidelines/The-evidence-andrationale-for-the-UNICEF-UK-Baby-Friendly-Initiative-standards/

### E-alerts

ChiMat Knowledge Update A weekly eBulletin highlighting the latest resources added to the ChiMat knowledge hub and covering all aspects of children's, young people's and maternal health. www.chimat.org.uk Information for Food Banks: Supporting pregnant women and families with infants www.babyfeedinglawgroup.org .uk/foodbankstoolkit www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/ Baby\_Friendly/Statements/UNI CEF\_UK\_Baby\_Friendly\_Initiat ive\_Statement\_Food\_Banks\_A pril\_2014.pdf

Interim guidance on current European refuge crisis applied to a formula feeding population in Europe www.ennonline.net/interimcons iderationsiycftransit

Children, Families and Maternity bulletin (Department of Health) Provides updates about policy, publications or other relevant developments to anyone with an interest in the policy area of children and maternity health care. http://bit.ly/18OTIpy Unicef UK Baby Friendly News and Research Regular updates about Baby Friendly activities and the latest information on infant feeding and very early childhood development. www.unicef.org.uk/Signup/Subscriptio ns

### Useful NICE guidance

- NICE (2010) Neonatal specialist care (QS4)
- NICE (2014) NICE Public Health Guidance 11: Improving the nutrition of pregnant and breastfeeding women and children in low-income households (PH11) Maternal and child nutrition (QS98)
- NICE (2015) Postnatal Care up to eight weeks after birth (CG37) (QS37)
- NICE (2016) Antenatal care for uncomplicated pregnancies. (CG62),
- NICE (2015) Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance (CG192) (QS115)
- NICE (2015) Diabetes in pregnancy: management from preconception to the postnatal period (NG3)

### Quick guide to useful current evidence (see full reference list for further details):

- Acta Paediatrica (2015) Special Issue: Impact of Breastfeeding on Maternal and Child Health, December, Volume 104, Issue Supplement S467, pp. 1–134
- Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, Piwoz EG, Richter LM, Victora CG (2016) Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? The Lancet Series: Breastfeeding 2. Volume 387, No. 10017, p491–504, 30 January.
- Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, Franca GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Murch S, Sankar MJ, Walker N, Rollins NC (2016) Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. The Lancet Series: Breastfeeding 1. Volume 387, No. 10017, p475–490, 30 January.
- Unicef UK BFI (2015) Working within the International code of marketing of breastmilks substitutes: A guide for health professionals. http://www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/
- Baby\_Friendly/Guidance/guide\_int\_code\_health\_professionals.pdf
- Unicef (2012) The evidence and rationale for the Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative standards www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Research/baby\_friendly\_evidence \_rationale.pdf

Commissioning infant feeding services. Part 2: a toolkit for local authorities



@PHE\_children
@babyfriendly
@NIFNtweets
@first1001days
@LLLGB
@PHE\_obesity

@babymilkaction
@DHgovuk
@1stepsnutrition
@AssocBfMothers
@NCTcharity

Please add your own links and contacts:

### References

www.who.int/nutrition/publications/infantfeeding/statusreport2011/en

<sup>4</sup> Acta Paediatrica (2015) Special Issue: Impact of Breastfeeding on Maternal and Child Health, December, Volume 104, Issue Supplement S467, Pages 1–134.

<sup>5</sup> Save the Children. Breastfeeding: policy matters. Identifying strategies to effectively influence political commitment to breastfeeding: a review of six country case studies. London: Save the Children, 2015.

<sup>6</sup> PHE (2015) Healthy Child Programme: Rapid Evidence Review. www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-rapid-review-toupdate-evidence

<sup>7</sup> Hansen K (2016) Breastfeeding: a smart investment in people and in economics. The Lancet, Volume 387, No. 10017, p416, 30 January.

www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lancet/PIIS0140-6736(16)00012-X.pdf

<sup>8</sup> Renfrew MJ, Pokhrel S, Quigley M, McCormick F, Fox-Rushby J, Dodds R, Duffy S, Trueman P, Williams T (2012) Preventing disease and saving resources: the potential contribution of increasing breastfeeding rates in the UK, UNICEF UK BFI www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Research/Preventing\_disease\_saving\_resources.pdf

<sup>9</sup> Ajetunmobi OM, Whyte B, Chalmers J et al (2014) Breastfeeding is Associated with Reduced Childhood Hospitalization: Evidence from a Scottish Birth Cohort (1997-2009) The Journal of Pediatrics.www.jpeds.com/article/S0022-3476(14)01065-8/fulltext

<sup>10</sup> CMO (2013) Chief Medical Officer's annual report 2012: Our Children Deserve Better

www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012our-childrendeserve-better-prevention-pays

<sup>11</sup> Acta Paediatrica (2015) Special Issue: Impact of Breastfeeding on Maternal and Child Health, December, Volume 104, Issue Supplement S467, Pages 1–134.

<sup>12</sup> Unicef (2012) The evidence and rationale for the Unicef UK Baby Friendly Initiative standards

www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Research/baby\_friendly\_evidence\_r ationale.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Davies, S (2013) Chief Medical Officer's annual report 2012: Our Children Deserve Better

www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012our-childrendeserve-better-prevention-pays

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Davies, S (2014) Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2014, The Health of the 51%: Women

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/484383/cm o-report-2014.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> WHO (2013) Country implementation of the International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes: Status report 2011.ISBN 978 92 4 150598 7

<sup>13</sup> McFadden A, Mason F, Baker J, Begin F, Dykes F, Grummer-Strawn L, Kenny-Muir N, Whitford H, Zehner E, Renfrew MJ (2016) Spotlight on infant formula: coordinated global action needed. Commentary. Lancet Breastfeeding Series 1 & 2. www.thelancet.com Vol 387 January 30, 2016

<sup>14</sup> Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, Franca GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Murch S, Sankar MJ, Walker N, Rollins NC (2016) Breastfeeding in the 21st century:

epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. The Lancet Series: Breastfeeding 1. Volume 387, No. 10017, p475–490, 30 January.

<sup>15</sup> DH (2015) Universal Health Visitor Reviews: Advice for local authorities in delivery of the

mandated universal health visitor reviews from 1 October 2015

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/464880/Un iversal\_health\_visitor\_reviews\_toolkit.pdf

<sup>16</sup> WHO (2016) Report of the commission on: Ending Childhood Obesity. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/204176/1/9789241510066\_eng.pdf?ua=1&

<sup>17</sup> Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, Franca GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Murch S, Sankar MJ, Walker N, Rollins NC (2016) Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. The Lancet Series: Breastfeeding 1. Volume 387, No. 10017, p475–490, 30 January

<sup>18</sup> DiSantis KI, Hodges EA, Johnson SL, Fisher JO (2011) The role of responsive feeding in overweight during infancy and toddlerhood: a systematic review, International Journal of

Obesity 35, pp 480–492, doi:10.1038/ijo.2011.3.

<sup>19</sup> NICE (2010) Neonatal specialist care (QS4) www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs4
 <sup>20</sup> Renfrew MJ, Craig D, Dyson L, McCormick F, Rice S, King SE, Misso K,
 Stenhouse E, Williams AF (2009) Breastfeeding promotion for infants in neonatal

units: a systematic

review and economic analysis, August, Health Technology Association.13.No.40. <sup>21</sup> Renfrew MJ (2016) Infants Born Too Soon or Too Small: a New Research

Agenda is Needed, Healthy Newborn Network.

www.healthynewbornnetwork.org/blog/enabling-breastfeeding-infants-born-soon-small-new-research-agenda-needed

<sup>22</sup> Strathearn L, Mamun AA, Najman JM, O'Callaghan MJ (2009) Does breastfeeding protect against substantiated child abuse and neglect? A 15-year cohort study. Pediatrics, Feb 123(2), pp483-93.

<sup>23</sup> All Parliamentary Party Group (APPG) (2014) The 1001 Critical Days –
 Breastfeeding Supplement: The Importance of the Conception to Age Two Period
 www.1001criticaldays.co.uk/news\_detail.php?id=49

<sup>24</sup> Brown, A., Rance, J. & Bennett, P. (2015). Understanding the relationship between breastfeeding and postnatal depression: the role of pain and physical difficulties. Journal of Advanced Nursing, DOI: 10.1111/jan.12832

<sup>25</sup> Borra, C et al (2014) New Evidence on Breastfeeding and Postpartum Depression: The Importance of Understanding Women's Intentions. Matern Child Health Journal, DOI 10.1007/s10995-014-1591-z <sup>26</sup> Public Health Outcomes Framework (http://www.phoutcomes.info/ accessed March 2016) and Technical Specification (2014)

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/382115/PH OF\_Part\_2\_Technical\_Specifications\_Autumn\_2014\_refresh\_02.12.2014\_FINAL. pdf

pdf <sup>27</sup> Commissioning Peer Support, Breastfeeding network,

www.breastfeedingnetwork.org.uk/commissioning-peer-support

<sup>28</sup> Association of Breastfeeding Mothers http://abm.me.uk/

<sup>29</sup> Breastfeeding Network www.breastfeedingnetwork.org.uk

<sup>30</sup> La Leche League GB www.laleche.org.uk

<sup>31</sup> NCT www.nct.org.uk

<sup>32</sup> PHE (2015) Rapid Review to Update Evidence for the Healthy Child Programme 0-5. www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-rapid-review-to-update-evidence

<sup>33</sup> Public Health Outcomes Framework (http://www.phoutcomes.info/ accessed March 2016) and Technical Specification (2014)

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/382115/PH OF\_Part\_2\_Technical\_Specifications\_Autumn\_2014\_refresh\_02.12.2014\_FINAL. pdf

<sup>34</sup> APPG (2015) The 1001 Critical Days: The Importance of the Conception to Age Two Period (Issued 2013, updated 2015)

www.1001criticaldays.co.uk/1001days\_Nov15.pdf

<sup>35</sup> Unicef UK BFI (2015) Having a meaningful conversation with mothers (www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Leaflets/meaningful\_conversations. pdf)

<sup>36</sup> RCM (2012) Maternal Emotional Wellbeing and Infant Development: A Good Practice Guide for Midwives

www.rcm.org.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alld=306309

<sup>37</sup> NICE (2016) Antenatal care for uncomplicated pregnancies. (CG62), Issue date: March 2008, Updated March 2016 www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/CG62

<sup>38</sup> DH (2015) Universal Health Visitor Reviews: Advice for local authorities in delivery of the

mandated universal health visitor reviews from 1 October 2015 www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/464880/Un iversal\_health\_visitor\_reviews\_toolkit.pdf

<sup>39</sup> NICE (2014) NICE Public Health Guidance 11: Improving the nutrition of pregnant and breastfeeding women and children in low-income households, Quick Reference Guide: Maternal and child nutrition. Issued March 2008 (updated September 2014).

<sup>40</sup> NICE (2015) Postnatal Care up to 8 weeks after birth. (CG37). Issued July 2006.
 (Updated January, 2015) www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg37/history
 <sup>41</sup> Unicef UK BFI (2015) Building a Happy Baby: A guide for parents

<sup>41</sup> Unicef UK BFI (2015) Building a Happy Baby: A guide for parents (http://www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Leaflets/building\_a\_happy\_ba by.pdf)

<sup>42</sup> NICE (2010) Donor milk banks: the operation of donor milkbank services. NICE clinical guideline 93, February www.nice.org.uk/cg93

<sup>43</sup> Start4Life Off to the best start

https://campaignstorage.blob.core.windows.net/campaign-resourcecentre/production/asset/file/1364/9e7193afb427ad318c727ddbbc67db23.pdf <sup>44</sup> The National Breastfeeding Helpline 0300 100 0212 www.nationalbreastfeedinghelpline.org.uk <sup>45</sup> WHO (2003) Global Strategy for Infant and Young Child Feeding, Geneva, WHO/UNICEF. <sup>46</sup> Start4Life Introducing solid foods https://campaignstorage.blob.core.windows.net/campaign-resourcecentre/production/asset/file/1628/c3c4c603cc4f7977a53f6d552655f806.pdf <sup>47</sup> The Equality Act 2010 www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/85008/busi ness-quickstart.pdf <sup>48</sup> Start4Life Breastfeeding after returning to work or study https://campaignstorage.blob.core.windows.net/campaign-resourcecentre/production/asset/file/1365/f28209ac10ab0cad2a650b95fd6dbd2c.pdf <sup>49</sup> Government Equalities Office (2013) Equality Act 2010: Guidance www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance <sup>50</sup> Health and Safety Executive Breastfeeding and Work www.hse.gov.uk/mothers/fags.htm <sup>51</sup> McAndrew F, Thompson J, Fellows L, Large A, Speed M, Renfrew MJ (2012) Infant Feeding Survey 2010, Health and Social Care Information Centre www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/health-and-lifestylesrelatedsurveys/infant-feeding-survey/infant-feeding-survey-2010. <sup>52</sup> NICE (2016) Antenatal care for uncomplicated pregnancies. (CG62), Issue date: March 2008, Updated March 2016 https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/CG62. <sup>53</sup> Start4Life Guide to bottle feeding https://campaignstorage.blob.core.windows.net/campaign-resourcecentre/production/asset/file/232/5e29d74c83c3034ba8f372ed085a90e0.pdf <sup>54</sup> PHE (2013) Local authorities improving oral health: commission better oral health for child and young people. www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/321503/CB OHMaindocumentJUNE2014.pdf <sup>55</sup> Unicef UK BFI (2015) What formulas should I use and Responsive bottle feedina www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Guidance/simple%20formula%20gui de.pdf <sup>56</sup> WHO (2016) Ending Childhood Obesity http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/204176/1/9789241510066 eng.pdf?ua=1& ua=1 <sup>57</sup> Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, Franca GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Murch S, Sankar MJ, Walker N, Rollins NC (2016) Breastfeeding in the 21st century:

epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. The Lancet Series: Breastfeeding 1. Volume 387, No. 10017, p475–490, 30 January.

<sup>58</sup> WCRF/AICR (2009) Policy and Action for Cancer Prevention: Food, Nutrition, and Physical Activity: a Global Perspective, Washington DC, AICR

www.dietandcancerreport.org/cancer\_resource\_center/downloads/chapters/pr/Intr oductory%20pages.pdf

<sup>59</sup> McAndrew F, Thompson J, Fellows L, Large A, Speed M, Renfrew MJ (2012) Infant Feeding Survey 2010, Health and Social Care Information Centre www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/health-and-lifestylesrelatedsurveys/infant-feeding-survey/infant-feeding-survey-2010.

<sup>60</sup> NICE (2010) Neonatal specialist care (QS4) www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs4
 <sup>61</sup> NHS England (2015) 2015-16 National Health Visiting Core Service
 Specification www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/hv-serv-spec-

dec14-fin.pdf

<sup>62</sup> NICE (2015) Postnatal Care up to 8 weeks after birth. (CG37). Issued July 2006. (Updated January, 2015) www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg37/history SIDS section, July 2013

<sup>63</sup> iHV (2016) Emotional health and wellbeing for mothers http://ihv.org.uk/newsand-views/news/emotional-health-and-wellbeing-for-parents/

<sup>64</sup> APPG (2015) The 1001 Critical Days: The Importance of the Conception to Age Two Period (Issued 2013, updated 2015)

www.1001criticaldays.co.uk/1001days\_Nov15.pdf

<sup>65</sup> PHE (2013) Local authorities improving oral health: commission better oral health for child and young people.

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/321503/CB OHMaindocumentJUNE2014.pdf

<sup>66</sup> PHE (2014) Evidence into Action: Opportunities to Protect and Improve the Nation's Health.

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/366852/PH E\_Priorities.pdf

<sup>67</sup>NICE (2014) Public Health Guidance 11: Improving the nutrition of pregnant and breastfeeding women and children in low-income households, Quick Reference Guide:

Maternal and child nutrition. Issued March 2008 (updated September 2014) <sup>68</sup> Health and Safety Executive Breastfeeding and returning to work

www.hse.gov.uk/mothers

<sup>69</sup> Palmer, G (2009) The Politics of Breastfeeding: When Breasts are Bad for Business. Pinter & Martin.

<sup>70</sup> Renfrew MJ, Pokhrel S, Quigley M, McCormick F, Fox-Rushby J, Dodds R, Duffy S, Trueman P, Williams T (2012) Preventing disease and saving resources: the potential contribution of

increasing breastfeeding rates in the UK, UNICEF UK BFI

www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Research/Preventing\_disease\_saving\_resources.pdf .

<sup>71</sup> Ajetunmobi OM, Whyte B, Chalmers J et al (2014) Breastfeeding is Associated with Reduced Childhood Hospitalization: Evidence from a Scottish Birth Cohort (1997-2009) The Journal of Pediatrics.www.jpeds.com/article/S0022-3476(14)01065-8/fulltext

<sup>72</sup> DH (2015) Universal Health Visitor Reviews: Advice for local authorities in delivery of the mandated universal health visitor reviews from 1 October 2015

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/464880/Un iversal\_health\_visitor\_reviews\_toolkit.pdf

<sup>73</sup> Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, Piwoz EG, Richter LM, Victora CG (2016) Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? The Lancelot Series: Breastfeeding 2. Volume 387, No. 10017, p491–504, 30 January.

<sup>74</sup> WHO (2003) Global Strategy for Infant and Young Child Feeding, Geneva, WHO/UNICEF

<sup>75</sup> Unicef UK BFI (2015) Working within the International code of marketing of breastmilks substitutes: A guide for health professionals.

www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Baby\_Friendly/Guidance/guide\_int\_code\_health\_pr ofessionals.pdf

<sup>76</sup> WHO (1981) International Code of Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes, Geneva, WHO www.who.int/nutrition/publications/code\_english.pdf

<sup>77</sup> First Steps Nutrition http://firststepsnutrition.org/

<sup>78</sup> IBFAN/BPNI (2015) Report on Carbon Footprint due to Milk Formula: a study from selected countries of the Asia-Pacific region

<sup>79</sup> NHS (2015) Delivering the Forward View: NHS planning guidance 2016/17 – 2020/21. www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/planning-guid-16-17-20-21.pdf

<sup>80</sup> NHS England (2014) 2015 – 16 National Health Visiting Core Service Specification www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/hv-serv-spec-dec14-fin.pdf

<sup>81</sup> PHE (2015) Transfer of the Commissioning of 0-5 Years Children's Public Health Services from NHS England to Local Authorities Commissioning data covering mandated services and other key Indicators.

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/409735/0-5\_transfer\_data\_collection\_and\_reporting\_\_3\_.pdf

<sup>82</sup> DH (2015) Transfer of 0-5 children's public health commissioning to local authorities: Overview 3: Changes to how 0-5 services are commissioned www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/405540/Ov erview 3 Changes to how 0-5 services are commissioned.pdf

<sup>83</sup> DH (2015)Universal Health Visitor Reviews: Advice for local authorities to support delivery of the mandated universal health visitor reviews from 1 October 2015

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/464880/Un iversal\_health\_visitor\_reviews\_toolkit.pdf

<sup>84</sup> Local Authority Association (LGA) (2014) Our ambition for children and young people

www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5854661/Our+ambition+for+children+and+young+people+publication.pdf/5b859db0-792e-4b9c-b8ab-a6804455a5ef

<sup>85</sup> LGA guidance: About the Children's Improvement Board. www.local.gov.uk/cypimprovement-and-support/-/journal\_content/56/10180/3512715/ARTICLE accessed March 2016.

<sup>86</sup> LGA (2012) Commissioning for better public services

<sup>87</sup> Public Service Transformation Network http://publicservicetransformation.org/media-zone/news/882-take-5-tips-forworking-with-places